FILED

MAR 13 1992

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPPEME COURT

By

Chief Debuty Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

ALEXANDER BEATTIE

Respondent

Case. No. 79,528

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

DAVID R. GEMMER
Assistant Attorney General
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

OF COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The memorandum of law filed by the state below sets out the essential facts and exhibits as they relate to the investigation of R105-126. The state expressly adopts and incorporates Beattie. the memorandum of law for its factual and argumentative value, and attaches the memorandum as an appendix to this brief. memorandum demonstrates that Beattie did not merely fall prey to an idle fishing expedition. He responded to the advertisement with an initial letter assuring the undercover officer that he was not a policeman and that "I particularly like movies with very young people." R105, R113. The remaining letters in the ten-letter correspondence between the customs agent and Beattie clearly show Beattie's familiarity with child pornography from prior rentals of such material, and his desire to purchase such material from the R108, R114-26. agent.

In the depositions made a part of the record, FDLE Special Agent Barbara McLellan, who worked on crimes against children in the Fort Myers area, stated that she received special training in how to place newspaper ads to develop child pornography leads. R49. She also testified that she was aware of several reports of child pornography violations occurring in Collier County prior to placement of the advertisement which ensuared Beattie. R50.

The customs investigation elicited the first correspondence from Beattie in January, 1990. Customs agent Mullikin did not contact Florida FDLE Agent McLellan until some period after the

initial correspondence had developed. This was after Beattie had sent letters saying he wanted to buy child pornography, R105, R113, that he had always rented such movies in the past but they had been of poor quality, R106, R117, that his rentals of such tapes were "all the same stuff," R120, and that he wanted to buy the "Lolita" tape, R120, described in a previous letter from customs agent Mullikin as "kiddie porn," R119. In a letter postmarked March 31, 1990, R106, Beattie enclosed a check to buy the Lolita tape and said his source for rental child pornography tapes had gone out of business and he couldn't get any more. R122.

When Beattie was arrested, he told Agent McLellan that he could rent child pornography from a video store near his area, but that the store had closed. R59.

McLellan testified that an arrest arising from the same investigation was made in April 1990, four months before Beat tie's arrest. R66.

Customs agent Mullikin testified that he was aware of a case in Naples prior to his investigation where nude photographs of children were developed locally and the photo store manager contacted police. R75. Through his training, Mullikin knew that most child pornography films came from the Netherlands, and from elsewhere abroad, which was why customs was concerned about the

¹ McLellan testified at one point she was contacted by customs agent Mullikin in July, R56, but later testified she opened her investigation in mid-March 1990. R64. McLellan said customs officials told her they wanted to bring in state law enforcement because the federal statutes did not provide for simple possession of child pornography. R64.

problem. R75-76. He also knew of an investigation of child pornography involving a video rental store on Marco Island which had been pursued for the past year and a half, well before the investigation which netted Beattie. R76.

Mullikin testified that one other arrest resulted from the advertisement to which Beattie had responded. R78. About a half dozen other persons had responded to the advertisement as well, but they did not pursue a purchase after Mullikin's initial response making clear that he was selling child pornography. R79. He said the initial investigation had been solely the work of United States Customs, R83, initiated by child pornography coordinator in Naples, R86. Pro-active investigations are necessary because the activity is not easily detected. R86. Mullikin was also aware of two or three child pornography tapes being seized during execution of a search warrant about three years prior to his testimony. R87. Mullikin testified that he had learned after Beattie's arrest that Beattie frequently took pornography to his job as a fire-fighter with United States Fish and Game, R92-93, and that he also took pornographic movies to county volunteer fire-fighter meetings, R93.

The Second District reversed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Jurisdiction indisputably exists due to the pendency of a certified question in <u>Simmons v. State</u>, 590 So.2d 442 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), pending on certified question, No. 79,094 (Fla., reply brief filed Mar. 9, 1992) (copy attached), as to whether <u>Cruz</u> remains viable.

The decision below also conflicts with the decision of this court in Echols v. State, 484 So.2d 568 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 871, 107 S.Ct. 241, 93 L.Ed. 2d 166 (1986), holding that evidence generated by legal actions by police of other jurisdictions will not be barred from use in Florida, even if the same acts by Florida police would be impermissible. In the instant case, the customs agent violated no federal strictures, and Florida police should not have been barred form using the information generated by the federal investigation to conduct their own investigation. Once the federal agents developed information that Beattie was involved in child pornography, Florida police were free under any reading of Cruz to follow up on the information.

The decision also conflicts with <u>Cruz</u> and decisions from other districts as to whether the actions and statements of the accused can serve to establish the first prong of the <u>Cruz</u> objective test, i.e. the existence of an ongoing criminal activity.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE DECISION CONFLICTS ON AN ISSUE CURRENTLY PENDING BEFORE THIS COURT. THE DECISION ALSO CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THIS COURT ALLOWING THE USE OF INFORMATION GATHERED BY MEANS LEGAL FOR THE INVESTIGATING AGENCY, REGARDLESS OF THEIR LEGALITY IN FLORIDA, AND IS IN CONFLICT WITH OTHER DISTRICT COURTS ON THE PRINCIPLE THAT THE ACTIONS OF THE SUSPECT CAUGHT IN THE NET OF A STING CAN ESTABLISH THAT THE POLICE HAVE CAST THEIR NETS IN PERMISSIBLE WATERS

The compelling reason for taking jurisdiction is simply that the opinion below expressly holds that <u>Cruz</u> remains viable despite the passage of section 777.201 Florida Statutes (1987). As discussed in the recent decision of <u>Simmons v. State</u>, 590 So.2d 442 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), <u>pending on certified question</u>, No. 79,094 (Fla., reply brief filed Mar. 9, 1992), this Court has yet to expressly rule on this issue. A copy of <u>Simmons</u> is attached.

While State v. Hunter, 586 So.2d 319 (Fla. 1991), appears to find Cruz still applicable when due process issues are implicated, there is no finding in the instant decision that due process is at issue. Regardless, conflict exits with the First District in Simmons, and with the Third and possibly the Fourth, as explained in Simmons. Further, the certified question is squarely although not explicitly raised in the instant opinion as well, and it is this court's custom to take jurisdiction of cases which raise an issue currently pending before this court.

The opinion below also conflicts with a decision from this court, Echols v. State, 484 So.2d 568 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied,

479 U.S. 871, 107 S.Ct. 241, 93 L.Ed. 2d 166 (1986). Echols permits the use of evidence gathered by another police agency which was legitimately and legally gathered by that agency, even if the seizure would have been illegal under Florida law. In Echols, the defendant argued that a tape-recording surreptitiously made in the defendant's Gary, Indiana, home, in violation of Florida privacy law, should be excluded from his Florida trial. This court held that the exclusionary rule was inappropriate when it would not affect officers in the lawful pursuit of their duties, as the officers in Indiana had been doing. So too, the customs agent in this case was acting within the proper bounds of his office, and nothing will be gained by applying another judicial rule of grace, Cruz entrapment, to bar prosecution in Florida. See also e.g., United States v. Rosenthal, 793 F.2d 1214 (11th Cir. 1986), and LaFave, 1 Search and Seizure §§1.2 and 1.8(g) (2d ed. 1987).

In this case, the investigation undertaken by customs officials was never disputed to be impermissible under federal law, i.e. the law controlling the investigators who developed the initial information. The defense raised herein was simply that the advertisement placed in the neighborhood shopper violated the state law under <u>Cruz v. State</u>, 465 So.2d 516 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 473 U.S. 905 (1985). <u>Echols</u> was raised and argued in the second

Cruz established the two-prong objective test:

The first prong of this test addresses the problem of police "virtue testing," that is, police activity seeking to prosecute crime where no such crime exists but for the police activity engendering the crime. As Justice Roberts wrote in his separate opinion in Sor-

district, but it was not specifically addressed in the opinion. Regardless, the facts reflected in the opinion, and the holding of the court, clearly fly in the face of the principles enunciated in Echols, and the express and direct conflict is apparent on the face of the opinion.

Further conflict with <u>Cruz</u> and decisions of district courts arises from the application of <u>Cruz</u> to find no preexisting criminal activity in this case. The opinion below sets out the facts that the newspaper ad which caught Beattie's attention was ambiguous, i.e. offered "young love" which was not necessarily illegal child pornography. Beattie's quick response to the ad showed an interest in "very young love," and, as the correspondence continued, he clarified his interest in child pornography. Rejecting Beattie's demonstrable preexisting involvement in possessing child pornography as sufficient to pass the first prong of <u>Cruz</u> conflicts with <u>Lusby v. State</u>, 507 So.2d 611 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>review denied</u>, 518

rells, "Society is at war with the criminal classes," 287 U.S. at 453-54, 53 S.Ct. at 217. Police must fight this war, not engage in the manufacture of new hostilities.

The second prong of the threshold test addresses the problem of inappropriate techniques. Considerations in deciding whether police activity is permissible under this prong include whether a government agent "induces or encourages another person to engage in conduct constituting such offense by either: (a) making knowingly false representations designed to induce the belief that such conduct is not prohibited; or (b) employing methods of persuasion or inducement which create a substantial risk that such an offense will be committed by persons other than those who are ready to commit it." Model Penal Code s 2.13 (1962).

So.2d 1276 (Fla. 1987). In Lusby, a confidential informant (CI) working for the Clearwater Police Department met the defendant at The CI had been arrested for trafficking in a sales seminar. cocaine, and, pursuant to a substantial assistance agreement, the CI agreed to help the police make new drug cases in exchange for a reduction of the mandatory sentence. 507 So.2d at 611 n.1. first raised the subject of cocaine with the defendant. several more contacts with the defendant, the CI told Clearwater police about his contact with the defendant. The police had never heard of the defendant before the CI told them about him, and did not check on the defendant through any independent source. 507 So.2d at 612. Police then became involved, and ultimately a drug deal occurred and the defendant was arrested. The court held:

> The interruption of ongoing drug activity is a specific ongoing criminal activity sufficient to satisfy the first prong of the [Cruz] In the instant case, although the police did not know of the appellant or his codefendant, the confidential informant had information from the appellant himself that appellant had a friend who was a drug dealer, and that appellant used drugs himself. ther, appellant and the informant conversed about amounts of drugs, appellant familiar with drug jargon, and the confidential informant and appellant exchanged phone numbers to set up something in the future. Thus, the government could reasonably conclude appellant, either together with friend or by himself, was engaging in the ongoing sale of drugs.

> We are concerned, however, that the confidential informant was on a "fishing expedition" in bringing up the topic of drugs to the defendant when the confidential informant had no reason to believe that appellant had any contact with illegal drugs whatsoever. We do not condone general forays [sic] into

the population at large by government agents to question at random the citizenry of this country to test their law abiding nature, i.e. virtue testing. However, when information is willingly offered regarding illegal activities, especially in the difficult area of detecting drug trafficking, such government—initiated conversation does not per se become entrapment.

507 So.2d at 612-13.

The instant decision therefore conflicts with <u>Lusby</u> on the point that the response of the suspect, admitting prior commissions of the target crime, shows he was involved in the ongoing criminal activity and is sufficient to pass the first prong of <u>Cruz</u>. The case also conflicts with <u>State v. Konces</u>, 521 So.2d 313 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), on the same principle, i.e. actions and behavior of the suspect can confirm the presence of ongoing criminal activity sufficient to satisfy the first prong of <u>Cruz</u>.

Here, the first prong of the [Cruz] test was satisfied where the confidential informant introduced Detective Williams to Mason [the middleman or partner for the defendant, who was the seller who readily agreed to sell cocaine to Williams and admitted that he had purchased drugs in the past. The police did not set up an operation which sought to manufacture crimes where none existed; they simply sought to interrupt a specific drug trafficking operation. See Lusby v. State, 507 So.2d 4th DCA), rev. denied, 518 So.2d 611 (Fla. 1276 (Fla. 1987) ("The interruption of ongoing drug trafficking is a specific ongoing criminal activity sufficient to satisfy the first prong of the [Cruz] test.")

521 So.2d at 314. In other words, statements by the suspect are relevant to show that the defendant is involved in the ongoing target crime.

CONCLUSION

Based on the argument and citations herein, this court should accept jurisdiction.