FILED
SID J. WHITE
APR 20 1992
CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,)			
Petitioner,)			
Vs.	(Case	No.	79,528
ALEXANDER BEATTIE,)			
Respondent.)			

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

LAWRENCE D. MARTIN
Vega, Brown, Stanley,
Martin & Zelman, P.A.
Counsel For Respondent
2660 Airport Road South
Naples, Florida 33962
(813) 774-3333

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent relies upon the statement of the case and facts as set forth in the Second District Court's opinion in this cause and strongly disputes the facts of the Attorney General, which are in conflict therewith.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE DECISION IN THIS CAUSE IS CONSISTENT WITH THIS HONORABLE COURT'S DECISION IN HUNTER AND WITH THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT'S DECISION IN $\overline{\text{U.S.}}$ V. JACOBSON. HUNTER AND JACOBSON EFFECTIVELY RESOLVE ANY CONFLICT AMONG THE DISTRICT COURTS ON THE SUBJECT OF ENTRAPMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW. ACCORDINGLY, SINCE THE DECISION BELOW IS CONSISTENT WITH HUNTER and JACOBSON, THERE IS NO NEED FOR FURTHER REVIEW OF THIS CASE.

Respondent disputes the State's opening assertion that jurisdiction indisputibly exists in this case. Jurisdiction is a matter of discretion with this Court; and for the reasons set forth below, such discretion should be exercised against acceptance of jurisdiction.

The State contends that the decision below conflicts with the decision of this Court in <u>Echols v. State</u>, 484 So.2d 568 Fla. 1985, cert. denied, 479 U.S 871 (1986). In the first place, <u>Echols</u> does not apply in that <u>Echols</u> confines itself solely to the issue of the admissibility of evidence rather than whether or not a crime occurred. In fact, in <u>Echols</u>, the Court states, "The evidence of Appellant's guilt is overwhelming."

This Court goes on to say that appellant did not deny that under Indiana and federal law the evidence against him was admissible. He argued only that this Honorable Court should apply Florida law to the actions of Indiana police because Florida's interest in the prosecution of this capital felony was greater than that of Indiana. In other words, the search and seizure was legal under the state law of Indiana and under the Federal law.

The State then attempts to stretch this reasoning and apply it to a situation in which the federal and state government conspire to entrap a citizen of this state.

Beyond the lack of applicability of <u>Echols</u> to this case, Respondent would show that both the state and federal agencies committed entrapment as a matter of law. If there was ever any question as to whether or not this type of conduct was prohibited by the federal government, there can be no doubt that such question was laid to rest by the United States Supreme Court in its decision on Jacobson v. U.S., 6 FLW Fed. 166 (April 6, 1992).

In <u>Jacobson</u> the facts are nearly identical to those in the instant case. The difference is that in <u>Jacobson</u>, the federal agents at least had some basis to target Mr. Jacobson in that the pre-investigation evidence showed that Mr. Jacobson had bought arguably child pornographic magazines before the government got involved. In the instant case, United States Customs had absolutely no reason to suspect either Mr. Beattie or anyone else in Collier County of buying, possessing, or dealing in child pornography. As the opinion in the case below shows, the Federal Government simply began virtue testing the entire county to see who could be tempted into buying the smut it was peddling.

An examination of the <u>Jacobson</u> case is germane both to show that <u>Echols</u> has no application to this case and to show that the highest court in the land condemns the procedures employed by the Federal Government to create crimes so that otherwise innocent persons may be prosecuted.

It is also interesting to note then in <u>Jacobson</u>, the United States Supreme Court states directly that it is unlawful for anyone to knowingly receive through the mails a visual depiction that involves the use of a minor engaging in sexually explicit conduct (18 USC 2252(a)(2)(A). From the opinion below, it is apparent that the Federal Government, through its agents, has deceived even the Second District Court into believing that there was no federal law which could have been employed against this defendant.

In <u>Jacobson</u>, as in the instant case, the government employed a bogus pen pal. In <u>Jacobson</u>, the pen pal's name was, "Long." In Beattie, the bogus pen pal was named, "Cox."

In both cases, the government's operatives, over a period of time, eventually induced the defendant into ordering pornographic materials and then arrested him when the materials were delivered. In both cases, the government used its ploys to appeal to the defendant's private thoughts. Upon this issue, <u>Jacobson</u> states, "Furthermore, a person's inclinations and fantasies are his own and beyond the reach of government."

Editorializing on this point, William Safire stated in his column on April 14, 1992, "The notion that entrapment is permissible if 'predisposition' can be shown by mind-reading cops is an assault on the presumption of innocence, the bedrock of our liberty. A person's mailbox is part of his castle, which the king may not enter." Mr. Safire goes on to state, "Heroic police officers who lay their lives on the line every day must be disgusted with the deskbound Torquemadas who prefer to mail out

nude photos to test the citizenry rather than expose themselves to danger in drug-ridden neighborhoods."

The State in this case seems to ignore its former favorite argument to the effect that Florida Statutes 777.201 evinces a legislative intent to overrule Cruz v. State, 465 So.2d 516 (Fla.), cert. denied, 473 U.S. 905 (1985). Previously, the Third District Court applied that reasoning in Gonzalez v. State, 571 So.2d 1346 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). The Third District receded from this reasoning in Lewis v. State, 17 FLW 793 (3d DCA March 24, 1992). The Third District said in that case, "We choose to rely on our most recent Supreme Court cases on the issue. See State v. Krajewski, 589 So.2d 254 (Fla. 1991), State v. Hunter, 586 So.2d 319 (Fla. 1991).

There can be no doubt that this Honorable Court put that argument to rest in <u>Hunter</u>, where this Court stated, "Today, the majority opinion resolves the question of the source of Florida's objective entrapment defense. The majority holds that 'this objective entrapment standard includes due process considerations.'" Such due process considerations would encompass, at a minimum, the notion that the government should not attempt to engage its criminal machinery to deprive its citizens of their liberty without some inkling that the law is being violated.

In short, nothing would be gained from subjecting Mr. Beattie to further judicial review by accepting jurisdiction in this case. He was not guilty of any crime when the government entrapped him, prosecuted him, convicted him, and forced him to go through an appeal to vindicate his rights. Subjecting him to

the further expense and agony of protracted appellate proceedings only compounds the wrong the government committed when it initially set out to ensnare any citizen of Collier County who was curious enough or foolish enough to respond. The law in this state was settled by <u>Cruz</u> in 1985. Since then, the various District Courts have strayed; but <u>Hunter</u> and <u>Jacobson</u> have already resolved the conflicts that have arisen.

In the very recent case of <u>Futch v. State</u>, 17 FLW 802, the Fourth District quoted Cruz in reaffirming:

"Entrapment has not occurred as a matter of law where police activity (1) has as its end the interruption of specific ongoing criminal activity; and (2) utilizes means reasonably tailored to apprehend those involved in the ongoing criminal activity."

Futch goes on to say, "Conversely, entrapment exists as a matter of law if the police activity fails to satisfy either prong." Finding that the State had not established the first prong of the Cruz test, Futch states that the government agent interjected drug talk into her conversation with Futch before he was engaged in any specific ongoing criminal activity. Continuing, the Court points out that the agent knew nothing about Futch before she met him and the State never proved that he had a prior history of drug involvement. Concluding, the Court observes, "Any conversation that Futch had about drugs only occurred after Cook cast her 'fishing expedition' to bait, hook, net, and land him for the purchase of illegal drugs We do not condone general forays into the population at large by government agents

to question at random the citizenry of this country to test their law abiding nature, i.e., virtue testing."

There can be no doubt that the government in this case was engaging in virtue testing on the same magnitude as if it had gone door to door to every citizen in the county to sell its wares and to make criminals of any hapless buyers. Since such virtue testing has been so roundly condemned by this Honorable Court and by the United States Supreme Court, judicial economy and justice would be better served if this Honorable Court refused jurisdiction and allowed the eminently correct decision of the Second District Court of Appeals to stand without further review.

CONCLUSION

Based on the argument and citations herein, this Court should exercise its discretion to reject jurisdiction.